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Appendix B 

Study Planning Table
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TOPIC:  501(c)(3) NPO (nonprofit organizations) RFPs (request for proposal) 

 

Key Concepts Problem Purpose Research Questions 

NPOs often generate RFP’s 
to procure a service 

 

NPOs are designed to meet a 
need 

• Programs (Youth, 
Social, etc.) 

• Services (Education, 
Health, etc.) 

 

Many NPOs rely heavily on 
grant funding to provide its 
programs/services. 

 

NPOs often develop RFPs to 
procure a service from an 
external contractor in 
fulfillment of a grant. 

 

NPOs often must 
demonstrate how effective 
their programs/services are 
with community impact, in 
an effort to sustain funding. 

 

NPOs often rely on external 
contractors to assist them in 
measuring and strengthening 
their programs/services. 

 

Many NPOs do not have an 
internal evaluation staff to 
help develop an appropriate 
RFP. 

 

NPO RFP’s often fail to 
request pertinent and 
appropriate information to 

General Problem: 

 

When an RFP 
provides potential 
bidders with 
insufficient, 
misleading, or 
incoherent 
information, the 
quality of proposals 
received by the NPO 
can be compromised.  
This can, and often 
leads to a challenging 
disconnect with the 
services provided and 
the work needed.  
This greatly 
diminishes the impact 
of the grant funds to 
support the NPO’s 
work. 

 

Researchable 
Problem:  We need a 
better understanding 
of the RFP 
development, 
proposal 
development, and 
proposal evaluation 
process as it occurs 
between NPOs and 
potential bidders. 

 

To explore the 
RFP’s development 
process of 501 
(c)(3) non profit 
organizations 

 

 

To explore how 
bidders are 
navigating through 
the proposal phase. 

 

To explore now 
NPO’s evaluate and 
respond to 
proposals in 
response to the 
RFP. 

 

How are NPOs working 
through the difficulties of 
formulating RFPs? 

 

How are bidders working 
through the proposal 
phase to: 

§ Verify pertinent 
information; 

§ Interpret the 
necessary 
elements of the 
proposal; 

§ Verify their 
interpretation of 
the desired 
deliverables; 

§ Assess the NPO’s  
internal resources 
and capacity; 

§ Propose a 
workable plan to 
deliver upon the 
RFP goals 

 

How are NPO’s 
interpreting and evaluating 
the proposals they receive 
in response to their RFP? 
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the service requested. 

 

Potential external contractors 
are often ill-equipped to 
develop an appropriate 
proposal due to the 
limitations with the RFP. 
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Appendix C 

Case Study Letters of Invitation 
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To [the Executive Director of _______________________]: 
 
Accountability and Sustainability are two of the most widely used terms in the nonprofit 
sector.  Funders are continuously seeking to the measure the accountability of their 
grantees when determining the extent to which they will continue to provide grant funds.  
It is imperative to funders that grantee organizations consistently demonstrate an 
increased impact on the community or target population, to maintain future funding of 
their programs and/or services.  Funders are quite explicit with their grant requirements, 
often compelling grantee organizations to solicit additional services from external 
consultants.  Accordingly, it is often necessary for Nonprofit Organizations (NPOs) to 
formulate a Request for Proposal to procure essential services in fulfillment to their grant 
obligations.  This is most common when seeking the services of an external evaluator.  
We are interested in learning about your experiences in developing RFPs.  To do so, we 
would like to: 
 

1) Conduct confidential interviews with you and your staff that will take 
approximately one hour. 

2) Observe the RFP formulation process of your organization. 
3) Interview the external evaluation consultant to choose to fulfill the 

RFP. 
4) Provide you with a survey questionnaire once the evaluation has been 

completed. 
 
All of the interviews, observations, and subsequent data will be strictly confidential, and 
only the researchers will be privy to your identity or that of the organization. 
 
If you are interested in learning more about participation, we would be pleased to speak 
with you further about your potential involvement in the study.  This study is intended to 
strengthen the RFP process and increase successful outcomes that advance sustainability 
activities. 
 
Your participation is voluntary.   Please respond to this email, indicating that you are 
interested in learning more about participating in this study.  We look forward to hearing 
from you. 
 
Best Regards, 
 
Nakia S. James 
Doctoral Candidate  
Western Michigan University 
 
Dr. Gary Miron 
Professor 
Western Michigan University	
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Appendix D 

Interview Protocol 
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Interview Protocol 
 

Project:  Increasing Nonprofit Sustainability Activities with Effective Request for 
Proposals: An Evaluation of the RFP as an Instrument for Success 
 
Time of interview:  
Date:  
Place: 
Interviewee: 
Title: 
Organization: 
 
I would like to thank you for taking the time to speak with me today and consenting 
to participate in this study.  I will be recording this interview to ensure accuracy.  
However, I would like to remind you that you may request that the recording be 
stopped at any point. 
 
Prompts: 
 
RFP Background 

• Please describe your background with developing RFPs. 
• Describe for me your first experience with the RFP development process? 
• How was that similar or dissimilar to your first experience developing an RFP for 

this organization? 
• What resources have you identified to help you develop RFPs? 
• How often do you utilize these resources? 
• How much time do you spend on developing an RFP? 
• How does grant funding contribute to your development of RFPs? 
• How many RFPs do you develop in accordance to your grant funding? 
• How many RFPs do you develop that are not directly relative to your grant 

funding? 
• How many RFPs do you develop each year? 
• How many RFPs do you circulate each year? 

 
RFP Obstacles 

• What would you say is your greatest obstacle(s) in developing an RFP? 
• What might help you to alleviate the obstacle(s) from your RFP development 

process? 
• How comfortable are you with developing an RFP? 
• Would you develop more RFPs if you were better equipped? 
• Do you have adequate time in your schedule to produce RFPs? 
• Are you ever rushed to develop an RFP? 

 
 



	

	

115 

RFP Fulfillment 
• How many of your RFPs get fulfilled each year? 
• How do you determine the best consultant to fulfill the work? 
• Of those RFPs fulfilled what percentage would you say yield positive outcomes? 
• Are you satisfied with the pool of consultants your RFPs attract? 
• How does RFP fulfillment affect your grant funding? 

 
Thank you for your participation.  May I contact you for a follow-up interview or to 
clarify any of your responses? 
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Appendix E 

Questionnaire for Nonprofit Organizations
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Improving Evaluation in Nonprofit Organizations: A Study of How Requests for 

Proposals Are Developed 

It is often necessary for Nonprofit Organizations (NPOs) to formulate a Request 

for Proposal to procure essential contracted services in fulfillment to their grant 

obligations. This is most common when seeking the services of an external evaluator. 

Accordingly, it is important that we strive to better understand the RFP process, from its 

conception to fulfillment. The experience of NPO Executive Directors (EDs) and staff in 

developing an RFP will assist in identifying obstacles, misunderstandings, and 

inaccuracies. This survey questionnaire has been designed to identify and understand the 

RFP process. Accordingly, please forward a copy of your most recent RFP (Terms of 

Reference) for evaluation services to the following email address: 

nakia.s.james@wmich.edu 
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*1. Please provide the following information:  

Your Name:  

Your Position/Title:  

Years in Nonprofit Sector:  

Organization: City/Town:  

State:  

ZIP:  

Email Address:  

*2. Please select the options that best describes the nonprofit organization you represent:  

Under $250K  

$250K - $999,999  

$1M - $4,999,999  

$5M - $9,999,999  

$10M or more  

501(c)(3) Public Charity  

501(c)(3) Private Foundation  

Other Nonprofit Organization  

Giving Organization  

Volunteering Organization  

Other (please specify)  

Experience Developing RFPs for Evaluation Services  

*3. Please answer the following questions about developing RFPs:  

I have received training in developing RFPs  

Please explain or qualify any of your answers above (Optional):  

*4. Rate your level of knowledge related to program evaluation:  

Very Weak Weak Moderate Strong Very Strong  

*5. Years of experience developing RFPs:  

0-3 Years  

4-7 Years  
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8-11 Years  

12 or more Years  

I have experience developing RFPs: 

No Yes  

My staff has received training in developing RFPs: 

No Yes  

Resources for Developing RFPs  

*6. Please tell us more about the resources available to for developing RFPs   

We have written policies/documents that guide our RFP development  

Our funders(s) provides resources to our NPO to develop RFPs 

Please explain or qualify any of your answers above (Optional):  

*7. How many paid staff does your NPO have?  

*8. How many regular volunteers does your NPO have?  

*9. How many hours per week are your volunteers actively engaged with the NPO?  

Funding  

*10. Please answer the following questions about funding:  

Our NPO re-allocates funds as necessary to fund external evaluations  

Please explain or qualify any of your answers above (Optional):  

*11. Has a reduction in funding? (Please select all that apply)  

contributed to fewer evaluations being solicited?  

contributed to the quality of the evaluations you have been able to procure?  

led to a reduction in programs/services offered by your NPO?  

Please explain or qualify any of your answers above (Optional):  

Our NPO receives substantial funding for external evaluations 

No Yes  

Our NPO incorporates our evaluations costs into our annual budget 

No Yes  

*12. Our NPO allocates the following percentage of program costs to external evaluations:  

0-3%  



	

	

120 

4-7%  

8-11%  

12% or more  

Specifically stipulated amount  

*13. What is your NPO's primary funding source?  

Private Foundation  

Public Foundation  

Fundraising  

Private Donations  

Public Donations  

Other (please specify)  

Time  

*14. Please answer the following questions related to the time:  

Our NPO uses a uniform template for generating RFPs  

No Yes  

Please explain or qualify any of your answers above (Optional):  

*15. When developing RFPs, our NPO utilizes the most time:  

0-25%  

26-50%  

51-75%  

76-100%  

Aligning our objectives to scope of the requested evaluation  

Aligning our funding requirements to the scope of the requested evaluation  

Our NPO develops RFPs well in advance of our need for the evaluations 

No Yes  

Please explain or qualify any of your answers above (Optional):  

Proposal Evaluation  

*16. Please rate the degree to which you do the following as it relates to proposal evaluation:  

Never Rarely Sometimes Often Always  
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Our NPO utilizes an established rubric to evaluate proposals of bidders 

Our NPO has an established process to evaluate proposals of bidders that is unique to our needs 

Please qualify any of your answers above (Optional):  

Fulfillment  

*17. Please answer the following questions related to fulfillment:  

The RFPs developed by our NPO fulfills our program needs  

No Yes  

Our NPO evaluates proposals based on the contents of the RFP 

No Yes  

Evaluations are simply a formality in fulfillment of our grant/funding obligations 

No Yes  

Please explain or qualify any of your answers above (Optional):  

*18. The RFPs developed by our NPO lead to intended outcomes:  

0-25% of the time  

26-50% of the time  

51-75% of the time  

76-100% of the time  

Sustainability  

*19. Please answer the following questions related sustainability:  

Our NPO has an established giving agenda  

No Yes  

Our NPO has established fundraising goals 

No Yes  

Our NPO regularly collaborates with other organizations 

No Yes  

Please explain or qualify any of your answers above (Optional):  

*20. What percentage of your funding is generated from current programs?  

*21. What percentage of your budget is generated from fundraising activities?  

Accountability  
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*22. Please rate the degree to which you agree or disagree with the following statements:  

Strongly Disagree Disagree Neutral Agree Strongly Agree  

Our NPO has an active board 

Our NPO has a clear mission  

Our NPO documents the impact of asset decreases  

Our NPO has a strategic plan in place 

Our NPO has a program monitoring plan in place 

Please explain or qualify any of your answers above (Optional):  

*23. How many board members do you have?  

Our NPO does NOT have a board  

Number of board members  

*24. Our NPO's program monitoring plan was developed by a professional evaluator  

No Yes Not Applicable; (no monitoring plan currently in place)  

Capacity Building  

*25. Does your NPO:  

Never Rarely Sometimes Often Always  

Regularly participate in training/professional development?  

Use evaluations to guide executive decision making?  

Promote its programs/services? 

Engage staff members in the outcome of evaluations? 

Please explain or qualify any of your answers above (Optional):  

*26. What percentage of your NPO operational activities are outsourced?  

*27. Please describe the general knowledge of evaluation within your NPO.  

Comments  

This study welcomes any comments or qualifications you may have about the RFP process within 
the nonprofit sector.  

28. What resources do you need to more effectively make of evaluations?  

29. Any comments or qualifications pertaining to the study topic are welcome here:  
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Appendix F 

Coefficients for Fulfillment Given Experience 
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Coefficientsa for Fulfillment Given Experience 

Model Unstandardized 
Coefficients 

Standardized 
Coefficients 

t Sig. 95.0% 
Confidence 

Interval for B 

Collinearity 
Statistics 

B Std. 
Error 

Beta   Lower 
Bound 

Upper 
Bound 

Tolerance VIF 

1 (Constant) 1.161 0.569  2.041 .057 -
0.039 

2.361   

Years of 
experience 
developing 
RFPs: 

0.756 0.286 0.539 2.641 .017 0.152 1.360 1.000 1.000 

a. Dependent Variable: The RFPs developed by our NPO lead to intended outcomes: 
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Appendix G 

Collinearity Diagnostics for Fulfillment Given Experience
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Collinearity Diagnosticsa for Fulfillment Given Experience 

Model Dimension Eigenvalue Condition Index Variance Proportions 
(Constant) Years of 

experience 
developing 

RFPs: 
1 1 

2 
1.874 
0.126 

1.000 
3.860 

0.06 
0.94 

0.06 
0.94 

a. Dependent Variable: The RFPs developed by our NPO lead to intended outcomes. 
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Appendix H 

Residuals Statistics for Fulfillment Given Experience
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Residuals Statisticsa for Fulfillment Given Experience 

 Minimum Maximum Mean Std. Deviation N 
Predicted Value 
Residual 
Std. Predicted Value 

1.917 
-1.673 
-0.743 

4.185 
2.083 
2.283 

2.47 
0.000 
0.000 

0.749 
1.170 
1.000 

19 
19 
19 

Std. Residual -1.390 1.731 0.000 0.972 19 
a. Dependent Variable: The RFPs developed by our NPO lead to intended outcomes. 

 


